



An evaluative study on the impact of health and wellbeing strategies on preregistration health student retention: A scoping review of published literature.

A report for Health Education England (East of England), completed by Associate Professor Rebekah Hill & Professor Sally Hardy, NICHE Anchor Institute, UEA. March 2023

TITLE: AN EVALUATIVE STUDY ON THE IMPACT OF HEALTH AND WELLBEING STRATEGIES ON PREREGISTRATION HEALTH STUDENT RETENTION: A SCOPING REVIEW OF THE PUBLISHED LITERATURE

Contents

Executive Summary
Background 4
Rationale7
Objectives
Methods7
Study selection
Study eligibility criteria
Box 1: Inclusion and Exclusion Criteria8
Information sources
Search
Context, Measures and Outcomes9
Box 3: Context, Measures, Outcomes9
Data collection9
Data extraction9
Table 1. Data Extraction results reporting studies evaluating support strategies on student retention
FINDINGS
Summary of Key Findings
Recommended strategies for addressing a multi-factoral approach to student support:
CONCLUSION
References
APPENDIX 1: PRISMA flow diagram for a scoping review of UK retention strategies

UEA Project team

Dr Rebekah Hill is Retention Lead for NICHE Anchor Institute, and a Lecturer in the School of Nursing Sciences, University of East Anglia, Norwich.

Professor Sally Hardy is the Programme Lead for NICHE, Anchor Institute in the Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences, University of East Anglia

Executive Summary

A rapid scoping review of the literature was carried out throughout March 2023, to explore what evidence exists of the impact of support strategies on pre-registration student retention. Retention improvement is a key focus of the workforce plan across England. In the East of England, focus is on ensuring students remain on their course of study, and that effective strategies are being employed to retain these students once qualified and working within and across our Integrated Care Systems.

The scoping review identified 74 UK based published papers, however most studies considering student retention failed to effectively evaluate the impact of the intervention on retention. This is perhaps since retention is a multifactorial issue.

The literature does identify several important strategies to be recommended as having potential to enhance student retention, when taking into consideration their need for adequate support, and a sense of belonging (whether to their chosen Higher Education Institution, their placement institutions, and then also once joining as a qualified member of staff, into their employing organisation).

Key findings indicate that :

- Retention is a complex issue resulting from a variety of factors, requiring multiple initiatives to be delivered simultaneously to meet a range of needs.
- Retention is a dynamic concern, requiring ongoing monitoring for support to be the right thing, at the right time, in the right place.
- Retention strategies for student nurses needs to consider all aspects of support in terms of pastoral, academic and clinical support to meet the complex demands of the programme.
- Retention Models need to be redeveloped when considering retention, since inadequate consideration is given to placement experiences.

AN EVALUATIVE STUDY ON THE IMPACT OF HEALTH AND WELLBEING STRATEGIES ON PRE-REGISTRATION HEALTH STUDENT RETENTION: A SCOPING REVIEW

Background

Retention improvement has been a UK healthcare workforce priority for some time (NHS Improvement, 2019). Across the East of England, health and wellbeing is one of the biggest issues associated with learner attrition and identified as a key factor in staff retention, particularly for staff two years post qualifying. Specific to preregistration nursing students, previous studies have identified several reasons for attrition and dissatisfaction. Studies suggest student nurse attrition has specified aspects as due to, a lack of support, unmet expectations, and financial concerns (Health Education England, 2018). Furthermore, once qualified, nurses have reported feeling demoralised from a perceived lack of support and staff shortages (Senek et al., 2020).

Glogowska et al (2007), identified four 'pull factors' that keep students on track, and six 'push factors', that leads them to decide to leave their course of study. These are:

- Pull Factors: Determination, commitment to the profession, informal support, and formal support
- Push Factors: Challenges of academic work, burden of other demands, financial strain, lack of support, negative early experiences, illness, or injury

Although the study identified those students who decided to stay, faced similar experiences to those who withdrew, individual differences make situations tolerable for some and unbearable for others (Glogowska et al 2007). The difference being the extent to which a student feels they can resolve the challenges they encounter, exposing a `tipping point` 'in their ability to tolerate circumstances (Hamshire 2017). Despite this knowledge, retention amongst health students remains problematic (Edge and Gladstone 2022).

The RePAIR (Reducing Pre-Registration Attrition and Improving Retention) project (Lovegrove, 2018), commenced in 2015 in response to the negative impact and financial cost of high levels of attrition across health-related programmes in the UK. A primary outcome was that all stakeholders influence the student experience, and that all need to do more in terms of a commitment to the student's 'journey' towards qualification and beyond. RePAIR also focused attention on enabling students to succeed, rather than on what made them fail or leave, and identified several avoidable reasons for why students left their course. Since the publication of the RePAIR report, several strategies have been

implemented to improve pre-registration health student retention, but little is known of the effectiveness of these initiatives (Edge and Gladstone 2022).

A case for change: Retention is a complex issue

Attrition in Nursing is complex and multi-faceted (Edge and Galdstone, 2022), with a range of factors thought to interplay to create such high levels of attrition seen in UK Nursing (Hamshire et al 2019). As far back as 2003, Last and Fulbrook found there were several issues identified as factors that result in student nurses leaving, having a culminative effect causing attrition.

A broad range of factors can impact student success, the most frequently cited as being:

- Personal issues (Hamshire et al 2019)
- Financial problems (Williamson et al 2013)
- Academic difficulties (Hamshire et al 2019)
- Placement related experiences (Chan et al 2019, Crombie et al 2013)

Yet it is more likely that a multitude of factors impact to cause a student to leave, rather than there being a single cause (Hamshire et al 2019).

Interestingly, despite considerable investment in actions to enhance student support, Hamshire et al (2017) found little evidence of any significant impact on student retention. However, contrary to this, many studies have revealed a positive impact in several factors on student nurse retention, such as *good academic support, pastoral support from family and peers and the provision of clinical support when in placement* (Cameron et al 2011, Williamson et al 2013). Gavine et al (2020) extend this in relation to retaining male student nurses as being equitable treatment, additional support, and having access to placements in clinical areas where men could minimise these challenges, all of which helped to reduce attrition.

Individual student's needs vary, and most utilise a range of support mechanisms, both in university, on placement and socially during their studies to maintain their motivation and juggle competing demands on their time (McKendry et al ,2014).

Student attrition (why students leave their course of study) is a dynamic and complex issue, yet many studies focus on one aspect of the problem, are small scale and context specific (Hamshire 2019). The success of a retention strategy hinges on its ability to address both academic and non-academic factors

in an efficient way. Yet the student of today is different to those of the past, and specific requirements of support and learning experience continues to evolve (Manyanga et al 2017).

Whilst many studies look at pastoral and academic support strategies, Crombie et al , (2013), assert that the practice placement mentors and clinical placements have the greatest impact on student retention, arguing that, to enhance retention, clinical support has to be improved. The NMC Standards for Student Supervision and Assessment (NMC, SSSA, 2018 a/b) have been implemented to address the expected level of support students need on placement, yet their impact on retention has not been evaluated, despite the claim that academic support and supervision is an essential ingredient for the successful completion of health professional related programmes of study (Gratrix and Barrett 2017).

The ability of a student to successfully complete their training is an interplay of several factors, as such, establishing a range of support mechanisms is suggested to be essential to reduce attrition (Chan et al 2019). Wray et al (2012 and 2017) identified that as student age increased, the likelihood of non-progression reduced, in other words, older students were more likely to progress than younger students; and, that domicile influences attrition, as in, those students who lived away from their local area were less likely to progress than those who lived locally.

Monitoring student achievement is also important since those performing less well academically tend to attend less (O'Donnell 2009). Much emphasis is given to monitoring student attendance and engagement, since attendance is a predictor of performance and completion equally. The relationship between engagement and withdrawal has also been established, for those students who disengage, tend to leave (O'Donnell, 2009).

A theoretical framework frequently used as a structure for examining attrition and retention is that of Vincent Tinto (2012) and was selected as the theoretical framework for the Repair Project. Student Retention Models broadly fall under one of two categories: 1) Student Attrition Models (SAM) and 2) Student Integration Model (SIM) (Manyanga et al 2017). The SAM approach proposes that students come to their chosen programmes of study, with beliefs that shape their attitudes to events, thus affecting their decision to leave. The SIM model proposes that the decision to leave or stay is influenced by academic factors (grades, roles, etc) and social integration (peers, friendships, etc).

Tintos Model of Institutional Departure (2012) asserts that attrition is a product of a student's lack of integration into the social and academic systems. Yet, although the model is often used (Aljohani 2016,

Edge and Gladstone 2022), within nursing it might be argued that Tinto's model is too simplistic, since the influence of external factors, such as those of practice education experience, is thought to play a large part in attrition (Boyd and McKendry 2012; Chan et al 2019) yet is not explicit in the model.

Student retention models are therefore primarily focused on traditional academic delivery (Aljohani 2016). For nursing students, integration extends university requirements for learning, and needs to adapt to a variety of clinical settings at an early stage of their course experience, thus adding to the challenges posed for students (Boyd and McKendry 2012). Where 50% of the training is based in clinical practice, a retention model needs to be reflective of this additional element, yet this is not being achieved currently (Cameron et al 2011, Crombie et al 2013).

Rationale

A scoping review of the published literature was chosen, because although systematic reviews are at the top of the evidence hierarchy, they are not suitable for every situation where there are confounding variables, and they are time consuming to conduct. The issues of evaluating pre-registration health students' retention studies were more appropriately addressed by a scoping review, due to exploration of the extent and nature of a body of literature and seeking to provide a summary that can then be used to inform future research, by identifying any evidence gaps (Micah et al 2021). Scoping reviews are especially useful where evidence is extensive and widely dispersed, where information is still emerging and not yet at a point of being able to provide a full summation of specific intervention, or cause and effectiveness (Micah et al 2021), as outlined in the background section above, as still being the case for pre-registration retention studies.

Objectives

Aim: To evaluate the impact of health and wellbeing strategies on pre-registration health student retention

Objective: To explore the impact of existing retention strategies, through evidence relating to health and wellbeing used for pre-registration health students' retention enhancement.

Methods

The scoping review used the framework developed by Arksey and O'Malley (2005) for scoping reviews and consisted of five stages:

- Stage 1: identifying the research question
- Stage 2: identifying relevant studies
- Stage 3: study selection
- Stage 4: charting the data
- Stage 5: collating, summarising, and reporting the results

Study selection

The process for selecting studies was to identify published systematic/ narrative reviews and primary studies on existing measures for enhancing support for pre-registration health students' retention enhancement.

Study eligibility criteria

Inclusion criteria:			Exclusion criteria:		
1.	English language papers only	1.	Discussion or opinion pieces		
2.	Studies developed to impact/ effect/	2.	Non-English papers		
	influence pre-registration retention/ attrition in relation to student support/	3.	Studies that do not include focus on retention / attrition		
	wellbeing	4.	Studies that do not focus on pre-		
3.	Studies that had evaluated the impact/		registration students		
	effect/ influence of retention/ attrition strategies for pre-registration students	5.	Non-UK papers		
4.	2013–2023-time frame to reflect contemporary HEI provision.				
5.	UK studies only to ensure transferability of findings to current NHS/ HEI experiences				

Box 1: Inclusion and Exclusion Criteria

Information sources

The electronic data bases Medline, CINAHL, ERIC and PsycInfo were searched

Search

The search terms applied were:

Key Search terms:

- Retention or Attrition or Turnover or Intent or leave or Intent to stay
- Impact or Effect or Influence or Outcome or Result or Consequence
- Pre-registration
- Support

• Experience or Perception or Perceptions or Experience

Box 2: Key search terms

Context, Measures and Outcomes

The Context, Measures and Outcomes applied were:

Context:	Measures:	Outcomes:
UK Studies	Impact on retention	Changes in retention or
Studies enhancing support		attrition as determined by:
Pre-registration students		Retention rates
		Attrition rates
		Experience
		Perception

Box 3: Context, Measures, Outcomes.

Data collection

One researcher (RH) applied the inclusion and exclusion criteria to all papers retrieved (n=133 papers in total) from the searches. Each study title and abstract were then independently screened against the inclusion and exclusion criteria (n= 24). Copies of full articles were obtained for those studies with `best fit` with the research question and when the relevance of the study was unclear from the abstract. Reference lists were searched, and further studies selected based on relevance.

The full text for 24 potentially eligible studies was obtained; each reviewer then independently appraised the full text article against the eligibility criteria. A list of all pertinent studies meeting these criteria was then constructed. The final decision the selection of papers for full data extraction was then made (n=7).

Refer to Appendix 1 which provides PRISMA details of the literature search.

Data extraction

Key items were charted by RH using a data extraction form developed for the scoping review. Data extracted from 7 papers were synthesised. Table 1 provides an overview of the data extraction results from these papers.





Synthesis results: To evaluate the impact of health and wellbeing strategies on pre-registration health student retention (March 2023)

Author/ Date	Title	Objective	Sample	Methods	Findings	Conclusion
Boath et al, 2016	Don't go with the 'FLO' – a student mobile texting service to enhance nursing student retention	To evaluate how use of automated mobile phone texts, using a system known as FLO, could usefully supplement pastoral support, as an intervention to reduce attrition among undergraduate nursing students	178 students	Questionnaire	Key themes were text messages were helpful and supportive, increased a sense of belonging to the University and encouraged retention.	It is concluded that FLO or use of similar mobile phone protocols can be a useful addition to approaches to improve undergraduate nursing student retention rates. ©
Currie et al, 2014	Developing a national computerised absence monitoring and management system to reduce nursing student attrition: Evaluation of staff and student perspectives Computerised Absence Management and Monitoring System (CAMMS)	To explore the perceived impact of CAMMS on student support and attrition, from the perspectives of academic and administrative staff and students	83 students; 20 academic staff; and 3 lead administrators.	On-line cohort survey of academic staff and students; structured interviews with lead administrators	A spectrum of negative and positive views of CAMMS. Students who are attending regularly seem pleased that their commitment was recognised. Lecturers reported greater difficulty getting to know students individually and acknowledge the benefit of identifying potential attendance concerns at an early stage. Some students who received a 'warning' letter were frequently irritated, rather than feeling supported. Increased staff workload resulted in negative perceptions and a consequent reluctance to use CAMMS.	CAMMS has the potential to identify 'at-risk' students at an early stage; however, the system should have flexibility to tailor automatically generated letters in response to individual circumstances, to avoid student frustration. Further research on the longer-term impact of CAMMS on attrition rates is warranted.

Gerrard & Billington, 2014	The perceived benefits of belonging to an extracurricular group within a pre- registration nursing course	Nursing students were aligned to different extra- curricular groups- however, the extracurricular groups were not compulsory	12 students	Focus Groups	However, students who were causing concern reported subsequent improvement in attendance Students who were members of extra-curricular groups perceive group membership to have many positive benefits. The three main themes were: employability, retention, and personal gain.	Students were able to develop skills around employability, gained support and built friendships – which they felt enabled them to complete the programme.
Gratrix and Barrett, 2017	Desperately seeking consistency: Student nurses' experiences and expectations of academic supervision	To explore students' experiences and expectations of academic supervision as part of an undergraduate programme of nurse education.	800 students received supervision	8 students in a focus group	Three themes were identified: relationship with supervisor, variation between supervisors, and the link between supervision and marking. Overall, students identified frustration with variability in the provision of academic supervision	Effective academic supervision depends on a strong relationship between student and supervisor ; there needs to be a consistent approach to supervision, in terms of both the amount and content of feedback. Students identify a clear link between effective supervision and academic achievement. There was no other evidence of impact on retention
McKendry et al, 2014	Why here and why stay? Students' voices on the retention strategies of a widening participation university	The study aimed to explore student motivations, experiences, and support requirements during their first year to determine the efficacy of institutional retention initiatives.	46 nursing and midwifery students	Focus groups	Students utilise a range of support mechanisms before and during their studies to maintain their motivation and to juggle demands on their time. These include university staff, fellow students, friends, and family and those they currently known within the profession.	Expectations play a significant role in student satisfaction, suggesting that institutions should ensure prospective students have a realistic understanding of what a nursing/midwifery programme will entail. Nurturing a sense of

						belonging to both the university and profession appears beneficial in promoting retention.
Ooms et al, 2013	Providing learning support to nursing students: A study of two universities	to identify all existing student support mechanisms across two universities, to measure the perceptions of students of the use and usefulness of the support mechanisms provided by their university.	812 first- and third-year students	Questionnaires	Support services that appear to have the greatest impact on student success in their nursing programme are the programme leaders/module teachers, small study skills groups and, for the 50% of students who required it, academic literacy, and numeracy support sessions.	Provision of good student support is important to retain students and enable them to succeed. Robust evaluation of support service provision is essential to ensure that the right services are being provided to the right students at the right time.
Ryan and Davies, 2016	Development and evaluation of an online, interactive information and advice tool for pre- registration nursing students	The project explored the sources of, and support needs of nursing and allied health students, develop and evaluate and interactive online tool: 'SignpOSt'	14, 3rd year students and 8 academic staff including personal tutors, programme/m odule leaders	Focus groups	Four key themes for support and advice: 1. Financial 2. Programme 3. Personal 4. Study/academic, found poor student knowledge and little clarity of responsibilities of academic staff and services leads to students sourcing support from the wrong place at the wrong time.	Students valued the speed and accessibility of information from informal, programme specific Facebook groups. Conversely, there were also concerns about the accuracy of these.

 Table 1. Data Extraction results reporting studies evaluating support strategies on student retention





FINDINGS

- Of the 7 studies retrieved for full text review, the majority approached the evaluation of support strategies on retention from the perspective of student experience.
- These were recent studies, published between 2013 2023 and only originating from the UK, to maximise specific relevance to the NHS and clinical placement context for health students.
- The types of outcomes measured were commonly identified as experiences and perceptions, rather than specific retention rates.
- Studies frequently comprised of student nurses and midwives as sample population
- Support interventions ranged from pastoral and academic to attendance monitoring

Issues emerging for further consideration:

- These studies serve as a reminder of the importance of including multiple perspectives, particularly those of student perspective of pastoral, clinical and academic support initiatives
- Although the impact on retention because of support is challenging to measure the studies identified in the scoping review effectively demonstrated positive effects on experience although this was often measured via self-reported assessment.

Summary of Key Findings

Few UK studies were identified in the scoping review that effectively evaluate the impact of support strategies for promoting student learners' health and wellbeing.

The scoping review did not identify a validated method of measuring the impact of support on retention, consistent with the findings of other studies that highlight most retention initiates are not well evaluated (Rodgers et al 2013). It is essential that robust evaluation of support service provision is conducted to ensure the right service is provided to the right students at the right time (Ooms, et al 2014).

• Recommendation 1: There is a need for a coordinated approach to the evaluation of retention strategies, to develop a robust evidence base.

Based on the findings of this scoping review we found no validated method available for assessing objectively the impact of support strategies on retention. Retention and attrition in pre-registration

healthcare education programmes are multifaceted therefore, evaluation of its effectiveness on retention should embrace these complexities.

Interviews are used to recruit students onto health programmes, yet there is no evidence base that they have predictive validity despite scales and scoring systems that are again, largely unvalidated (Rodgers et al 2013).

 Recommendation 2: Consensus remains that retention strategies need to focus on multiple factors (Wray et al 2017).

Expectations play a significant role in student satisfaction and retention.

 Recommendation 3: Higher Education Institutions (HEIs) and indeed all employing organisations therefore need to provide realistic expectations of the programme prior to recruitment (McKendry et al 2014).

Effective retention initiatives need to constantly scan the student experience, understand student need, allocate resources efficiently; engage, interact, and feedback to students in prompt fashion and they need to be adaptive (Manyanga 2017). In seeking to understand retention, the students voice is essential since it is their lived experience of higher education that leads to the decision to leave (Williamson et al 2013). As such, student lived experiences need to be sought when exploring retention and attrition (Glogowska et al 2007)

Recommendation 4: Recruitment that target local, older/mature students, with a broader range of life experiences could be seen as a process of positively influencing retention rates (Wray et al 2017), and as a local recruitment strategy for maximising future workforce pipeline and help to support retention on their chosen professional career.

Key findings

- There are few UK studies, and this should be considered when interpreting findings.
- Our review did not identify a specific validated method for measuring impact of support on retention support strategies.
- Retention support interventions are multifaceted.
- A combination of support strategies seems to provide a better picture of the overall impact of pre-registration retention

Tinto's model of Institutional Departure is no longer suitable when considering nursing attrition, since the practice environment, and integration is not considered.

Student support mechanisms need to be multilevel (Wray et al 2017, Currie et al 2014).

Support is required for students to successfully complete their programme, the extent to which it is needed is individual but as a strategy, all should have access to academic, pastoral, and clinical support (Currie at al 2014).

Therefore, we look at different aspects of support within the next section of our key findings and recommendations.

Recommended strategies for addressing a multi-factorial approach to student support:

- a) Clinical Support:
- Partnerships between placement and HEIs need to be strengthened to ensure clinical support is optimal (Williamson et al 2013).
- Clinical staff need to be actively supportive and welcoming (Williamson et al 2013).
- Buddying students is perceived as a supportive strategy for clinical placement (placing a senior student with a junior) (Williamson et al 2013, Campbell 2015).
- The NMC Standards for student supervision and assessment (2019) need to be evaluated in terms of their impact on retention
- b) Pastoral support:
- Pastoral support needs to consider a wide range of supporting activities, enhancing a sense of belonging (Williamson et al, 2013)

- Pastoral support must be readily available to students and foster a sense of belonging to the HEI to retain students (Currie et al, 2014; Williamson et al, 2013).
- Developing extra-curricular groups is one such support strategy that can enhance peer to peer support, friendships, and a sense of belonging (Gerrard and Billington 2014).
- Strategies that enhance a raised sense of vocation need to be explored more, although intrinsic for some, might be enhanced in others, since a low sense of vocation is associated with attrition (Williamson et al 2013).
- Enhancing students' sense of belonging to both the university and profession can promote retention (McKendry et al 2014).
- Text messaging via a mobile texting service, can be a helpful strategy to support students and possibly used to enhance retention since it works to enhance a sense of belonging to the university, and offers a personal/individualised connection (Boath et al 2016).
- c) Academic support:
- Academic support needs to be available and easily accessible (Williamson et al 2013, Currie et al 2014).
- Optimal academic support would foster the creation of peer group support, where Peer Assisted learning Schemes (PALS) promote a sense of belonging (Williamson et al 2013)
- Academically, student should have opportunity to work in small groups facilitating friendship, informal support and a greater sense of identity and belonging (Glogowska et al 2007, Williamson et al 2013, Gerrard and Billington 2014)
- Academic supervision can be an important strategy for programme completion (Gratrix and Barrett 2017) but must be consistent and is highly depended on the relationship between student and academic.
- Attendance and Engagement monitoring can identify `at risk ` students at an early stage, further research is required to demonstrate impact on attrition (Currie et al 2014)

CONCLUSION

From a scoping review of the published UK literature, during March 2023, we have found little evidence to identify what are the most effective strategies required to support students on health-related training programmes, to remain on course, (attrition) and continue onto having lengthy careers (retention).

Whilst it is recognised reasons for students and early career health professionals leaving their chosen career are multifactorial, there are some common, and basic recommendations that we have

identified to focus attention on engaging and empowering students to be well prepared for the stressors, and complex clinical contexts they will encounter during and after their programme of professional education.

Most common, is the need for individuals to gain a sense of belonging, to have a wide variety of supports readily available to them, and to maximise their sense of engagement with their HEI, and their placement organisation.

We recommend a robust evaluation is undertaken of regional retention strategies, so that the most cost effective, and highly transferable activities can be focused upon, to secure the future of our health care professionals workforce in the East of England. More therefore needs to be done to investigate what works, for whom and how, (including active projects that are yet unpublished), so that scalability can be achieved at pace, to avoid further workforce deficits, and offer people thriving careers in the East of England.

References

Aljohani, O. (2016). A Comprehensive Review of the Major Studies and Theoretical Models of Student Retention in Higher Education. *Higher education studies*, *6*(2), 1-18.

Arksey, H., & O'Malley, L. (2005). Scoping studies: towards a methodological framework. *International journal of social research methodology*, *8*(1), 19-32.

Boath, E., Jinks, A., Thomas, N., Thompson, R., Evans, J., O'Connell, P., & Taylor, L. (2016). Don't go with the 'FLO'–a student mobile texting service to enhance nursing student retention. *Nurse Education Today*, *45*, 80-86.

Boyd, V., & Mckendry, S. (2012). Staying the course: Examining enablers and barriers to student success within undergraduate nursing programmes. *European journal for Research on the Education and Learning of Adults*, *3*(1), 59-75.

Cameron, J., Roxburgh, M., Taylor, J., & Lauder, W. (2011). An integrative literature review of student retention in programmes of nursing and midwifery education: why do students stay?. *Journal of clinical nursing*, *20*(9-10), 1372-1382.

Campbell, A. (2015). Introducing a buddying scheme for first year pre-registration students. *British Journal of Nursing*, *24*(20), 992-996.

Chan, Z.C., Cheng, W.Y., Fong, M.K., Fung, Y.S., Ki, Y.M., Li, Y.L., Wong, H.T., Wong, T.L. and Tsoi, W.F., (2019). Curriculum design and attrition among undergraduate nursing students: A systematic review. *Nurse education today*, *74*, pp.41-53.

Crombie, A., Brindley, J., Harris, D., Marks-Maran, D., & Thompson, T. M. (2013). Factors that enhance rates of completion: What makes students stay?. *Nurse education today*, *33*(11), 1282-1287.

Currie, K., McCallum, J., Murray, J., Scott, J., Strachan, E., Yates, L., & Wright, M. (2014). Developing a national computerised absence monitoring and management system to reduce nursing student attrition: Evaluation of staff and student perspectives. *Nurse education today*, *34*(5), 738-743.

Edge, D., & Gladstone, N. (2022). Exploring support strategies for improving nursing student retention. *Nursing Standard (Royal College of Nursing (Great Britain): 1987).*

England, N. H. S., & Improvement, N. H. S. (2019). *Network contract directed enhanced service: Additional roles reimbursement scheme guidance*. NHS.

Gavine, A., Carson, M., Eccles, J., & Whitford, H. M. (2020). Barriers and facilitators to recruiting and retaining men on pre-registration nursing programmes in Western countries: A systemised rapid review. *Nurse Education Today*, *88*, 104368.

Gerrard, S., & Billington, J. (2014). The perceived benefits of belonging to an extracurricular group within a pre-registration nursing course. *Nurse Education in Practice*, *14*(3), 253-258.

Glogowska, M., Young, P., & Lockyer, L. (2007). Should I go or should I stay? A study of factors influencing students' decisions on early leaving. *Active Learning in Higher Education*, 8(1), 63-77.

Gratrix, L., & Barrett, D. (2017). Desperately seeking consistency: Student nurses' experiences and expectations of academic supervision. *Nurse Education Today*, *48*, 7-12.

Hamshire, C., Jack, K., Forsyth, R., Langan, A. M., & Harris, W. E. (2019). The wicked problem of healthcare student attrition. *Nursing inquiry*, *26*(3), e12294.

Health Education England (2018) *Health Education England gained valuable insight into the reasons why students and post registration healthcare professionals leave*. Available from: https://www.hee.nhs.uk/news-blogs-events/news/health-education-england- gain

Last, L., & Fulbrook, P. (2003). Why do student nurses leave? Suggestions from a Delphi study. *Nurse education today*, *23*(6), 449-458.

Lovegrove, M. (2018). Reducing Pre-registration Attrition and Improving Retention [RePAIR]. *England: Health Education England*.

Manyanga, F., Sithole, A., & Hanson, S. M. (2017). Comparison of Student Retention Models in Undergraduate Education from the Past Eight Decades. *Journal of Applied Learning in Higher Education*, *7*, 30-42.

Mckendry, S., Wright, M., & Stevenson, K. (2014). Why here and why stay? Students' voices on the retention strategies of a widening participation university. *Nurse education today*, *34*(5), 872-877.

Nursing and Midwifery Council. Standards of proficiency for registered nurses. 2018a. <u>https://tinyurl.com/dkdthxvh</u>(accessed 27 January 2023) <u>Google Scholar</u> Nursing and Midwifery Council. Standards for student supervision and assessment. 2018b. <u>https://tinyurl.com/2f2pbpzb</u> (accessed 27 January 2023) <u>Google Scholar</u>

Peters, M.D., Marnie, C., Colquhoun, H., Garritty, C.M., Hempel, S., Horsley, T., Langlois, E.V., Lillie, E., O'Brien, K.K., Tunçalp, Ö. and Wilson, M.G., (2021). Scoping reviews: reinforcing and advancing the methodology and application. *Systematic reviews*, *10*(1), pp.1-6.

O'Donnell, H. (2008). The emotional impact of nursing student attrition rates. *British Journal of Nursing*, *17*(12), 745-754.

Ooms, A., Fergy, S., Marks-Maran, D., Burke, L., & Sheehy, K. (2013). Providing learning support to nursing students: A study of two universities. *Nurse Education in Practice*, *13*(2), 89-95.

Rodgers, S., Stenhouse, R., McCreaddie, M., & Small, P. (2013). Recruitment, selection and retention of nursing and midwifery students in Scottish Universities. *Nurse Education Today*, *33*(11), 1301-1310.

Ryan, G. S., & Davies, F. (2016). Development and evaluation of an online, interactive information and advice tool for pre-registration nursing students. *Nurse Education in Practice*, *17*, 214-222.

Senek, M., Robertson, S., Ryan, T., King, R., Wood, E., Taylor, B., & Tod, A. (2020). Determinants of nurse job dissatisfaction-findings from a cross-sectional survey analysis in the UK. *BMC nursing*, *19*(1), 1-10.

Tinto, V. (2012). *Leaving college: Rethinking the causes and cures of student attrition*. University of Chicago press.

Williamson, G. R., Health, V., & Proctor-Childs, T. (2013). Vocation, friendship, and resilience: a study exploring nursing student and staff views on retention and attrition. *The Open Nursing Journal*, *7*, 149.

Wray, J., Barrett, D., Aspland, J., & Gardiner, E. (2012). Staying the course: Factors influencing preregistration nursing student progression into Year 2—A retrospective cohort study. *International Journal of Nursing Studies*, 49(11), 1432-1442.

Wray, J., Aspland, J., Barrett, D., & Gardiner, E. (2017). Factors affecting the programme completion of pre-registration nursing students through a three-year course: A retrospective cohort study. *Nurse education in practice*, *24*, 14-20.

APPENDIX 1: PRISMA flow diagram for a scoping review of UK retention strategies

